10-2-2007

## Ridgley v. State Appellant's Brief Dckt. 35823

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### Nature of the Case

Lee A. Ridgley appeals from the district court's order summarily dismissing his petition for post-conviction relief. He asserts that he raised a genuine issue of material fact as to whether his attorney in the underlying criminal case was ineffective.

### Statement of the Facts and Course of Proceedings

In 2002, Mr. Ridgley pled guilty to lewd conduct with a minor under the age of sixteen. (R., pp.3-4.) He then moved to withdraw his guilty plea, which was denied; the Idaho Court of Appeals affirmed the denial of his motion to withdraw his plea. (R., p.35; 100.) Mr. Ridgley then filed a petition for post-conviction relief. (R., p.3.)

In his petition, Mr. Ridgley asserted that his attorney was ineffective. (R., p.4.) He stated that on February 10, 2002, his wife died due to complications with asthma and that he was arrested on the lewd conduct charge shortly after her death. (R., p.4.) He was emotionally distraught due to his wife's death and was severely depressed. (R., p.4.) Even worse, there was speculation that he would be charged with murder for his wife's death. (R., p.4.) Mr. Ridgley was "in complete emotion shut down and a state of confusion." (R., p.4.) Due to his wife's death, Mr. Ridgley's children were "sheltered by the Idaho Department of Health and Welfare" and he was going through both criminal proceedings and civil child protection proceedings. (R., p.4.)

Mr. Ridgley asserted that his court-appointed attorney spent less than one hour with him before he entered his guilty plea. (R., p.4.) He was never provided with the police report, and his counsel, other than reading the police report, did not contact any

witnesses, did not watch any video or audiotapes, and did not listen to Mr. Ridgley when Mr. Ridgley said that he was not understanding the other attorney's comments. (R., p.4.) Mr. Ridgley told his attorney that he was suffering from depression and did not understand what was transpiring in his cases but his attorney did not discuss any potential defenses he had to the case. (R., p.4.)

Mr. Ridgley acknowledged that he signed a written plea of guilty, but he asserted that he "was in such a state of shock and disbelief of the rush of what was going on, the complete devastation of losing my wife and my family and within a three (3) week period of time entering my guilty plea to the charge, I had expressed complete break down to my attorney and I expressed that I was not mentally well." (R., p.4.) He also asserted that his attorney did not advise him of the potential of having a mental health evaluation or discuss whether or not he would be able to "appreciate the proceedings that were filed against me or be able to assist in my defense." (R., p.4.)

Mr. Ridgley subsequently received a different lawyer, who filed a motion to withdraw his guilty plea. (R., p.5.) Mr. Ridgley asserted that during the hearing on the motion, his counsel admitted that he had not spent more than an hour with him, did not know the names of anyone mentioned in the police report, that he never shared the police report with him, had never watched any videotapes of interviews with the alleged victim, did not listen to the audiotapes, did not conduct any independent investigation, and never discussed the facts of the charge or explain any defenses that Mr. Ridgley might have had. (R., p.5.) Counsel allegedly stated that Mr. Ridgley was under a lot of stress and just wanted the charge to go away, which was the basis of entering into plea negotiations. (R., p.5.)

The State responded and moved for summary dismissal. (R., p.14.) However, the district court also issued a notice of intent to dismiss. (R., p.105.) The court noted that the transcript of the hearing on the motion to withdraw the guilty plea “factually supports some of Petitioner’s allegations,” there was “nevertheless insufficient evidence that the whole of counsel’s representation of Petition was objectively unreasonable, especially in light of Petitioner’s indication at the time that he simply the wanted the criminal matter over with. . . .” (R., p.108.) Further, the court held that, even if Mr. Ridgley had established deficient representation, “there is a total lack of evidence that, but for counsel’s deficiencies, Petitioner would have insisted on going to trial. Even with all the information Petitioner now has, he does not unequivocally state that he would proceed to trial.” (R., p.109.)

Mr. Ridgley submitted a response to the district court's notice of intent to dismiss and supplemented it with affidavits from himself and his post-conviction counsel and with a report from Jonelle Timlin. (R., p.133.) Mr. Ridgley’s affidavit stated that he told his attorney that he was under severe depression and that he did not understand the proceedings against him. (R., pp.112-113.) Further the affidavit averred that he told his attorney that he had been seen by Tam Judy, a counselor at the Boundary County Sheriff’s Office, due to his depression and suicidal thoughts but that his attorney never spoke to him about receiving a mental health evaluation or about understanding the proceedings against him. (R., p.113.) The affidavit also asserted that Mr. Ridgley was asserting that he wanted to withdraw his plea and proceed to trial. (R., p.114.)

Mr. Ridgley’s post-conviction attorney, in his affidavit, asserted that he spoke with the prosecutor’s office, who informed him that tapes were available for review along with

the rest of the discovery that was picked up by Mr. Ridgley's initial attorney. The post-conviction attorney also stated that, "had a client told me he was severely depressed and suffered an emotional breakdown and had been seen by a psychologist due to suicidal idealations and had been incarcerated the day after his wife's death . . . I would have been seriously concerned about his mental status, and whether or not he could understand the proceedings against him. . . ." (R., p.118-119.) Even if a client had told him he wanted to plead just to get the case over with, he would have requested an evaluation under I.C. § 18-210 before entering into plea negotiations. (R., p.119.) In addition, he would have reviewed the police reports and tapes to be fully informed before advising a client to plead guilty. (R., p.119.)

The district court was not persuaded. (R., p.152.) The court held that the responses to the notice of intent to dismiss did not rectify the problems with the initial petition. (R., p.154.) The district court then discussed the effect of the Court of Appeals' ruling that Mr. Ridgley had not supplied a just reason to withdraw his guilty plea. (R., p.154.) The district court found that "the grounds and arguments asserted by Ridgley during his appeal were virtual mirror images of the arguments he now states in this action." (R., p.154.) The district court also found that the:

"only 'new' evidence submitted in support of the petition herein that was not before the criminal trial judge is the Ridgley affidavit and the Hull [post-conviction attorney] affidavit commenting on Ridgley's mental condition and the failure of attorney Williams to advise Ridgley of, or to independently request, a mental health evaluation."

(R., p.155.)

Further, while acknowledging that “the standard for an effective assistance of counsel claim is different than that for a motion to withdraw a guilty plea . . . this Court finds the factual similarities of Ridgley’s claims extraordinary. . . .” (R., p.155.)

Mr. Ridgley appealed. (R., p.165.) Mr. Ridgley asserts that the district court erred by summarily dismissing his petition because he raised a genuine issue of material fact as to whether his counsel was ineffective and by dismissing on grounds not set forth in the notice of intent to dismiss.

## ISSUES

1. Did the district court err by summarily dismissing Mr. Ridgley's petition for post-conviction relief because he raised a genuine issue of material fact as to whether his attorney was ineffective?
2. Did the district court err by dismissing on grounds not set forth in the notice of intent to dismiss?

## ARGUMENT

### I.

#### The District Court Erred By Summarily Dismissing Mr. Ridgley's Petition For Post-Conviction Relief Because He Raised A Genuine Issue Of Material Fact As To Whether His Attorney Was Ineffective

##### A. Introduction

Mr. Ridgley asserts that, contrary to the district court's conclusions, that he raised a genuine issue of material fact sufficient to defeat *sua sponte* dismissal in this case.

##### B. The District Court Erred By Summarily Dismissing Mr. Ridgley's Petition For Post-Conviction Relief Because He Raised A Genuine Issue Of Material Fact As To Whether His Attorney Was Ineffective

A petition for post-conviction relief initiates a proceeding that is separate and distinct from the underlying criminal action which led to the petitioner's conviction. *Peltier v. State*, 119 Idaho 454, 456, 808 P.2d 373, 375 (1991). It is a civil proceeding governed by the UPCPA and the Idaho Rules of Civil Procedure. *Peltier*, 119 Idaho at 456, 808 P.2d at 375. Because it is a civil proceeding, the petitioner must prove his allegations by a preponderance of the evidence. *Martinez v. State*, 126 Idaho 813, 816, 892 P.2d 488, 491 (Ct. App. 1995).

However, the petition initiating a post-conviction proceeding differs from the complaint initiating a civil action. A post-conviction petition is required to include more than "a short and plain statement of the claim"; it "must be verified with respect to facts within the personal knowledge of the applicant, and affidavits, records or other evidence supporting its allegations must be attached, or the application must state why such supporting evidence is not attached." *Id.*; I.C. § 19-4903. "In other words, the

application must present or be accompanied by admissible evidence supporting its allegations, or the application will be subject to dismissal.” *Small v. State*, 132 Idaho 327, 331, 971 P.2d 1151, 1155 (Ct. App. 1998).

Just as I.R.C.P. 56 provides for summary judgment in other civil proceedings, the UPCPA allows for summary disposition of petitions where there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and one party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. I.C. § 19-4906(c).<sup>1</sup> In analyzing a post-conviction petition under this standard, the district court need not “accept either the applicant’s mere conclusory allegations, unsupported by admissible evidence, or the applicant’s conclusions of law.” *Martinez*, 126 Idaho at 816-17, 892 P.2d at 491-492. However, if the petitioner presents any evidentiary support for his allegations, the district court must take the petitioner’s allegations as true, at least until such time as they are controverted by the State. *Tramel v. State*, 92 Idaho 643, 646, 448 P.2d 649, 652 (1968). This is so even if the allegations appear incredible on their face. *Id.* Thus, only after the State controverts the petitioner’s allegations can the district court consider the evidence. *Drapeau v. State*, 103 Idaho 612, 651 P.2d 546 (Ct. App. 1982). But in doing so, it must still liberally construe the facts and draw reasonable inferences in favor of the petitioner, *Small*, 132 Idaho at 331, 971 P.2d at 1155.

If a question of material fact is presented, the district court must conduct an evidentiary hearing to resolve that question. *Small*, 132 Idaho at 331, 971 P.2d at 1155.

---

<sup>1</sup> Although this standard is set forth in section 19-4906(c), which deals with motions for summary disposition, it appears to apply to *sua sponte* dismissals under section 19-4906(b) as well. See, e.g., *Small*, 132 Idaho at 331, 971 P.2d at 1155 (discussing the standard for summary disposition under section 19-4906 generally as being whether a genuine issue of material fact has been presented).

If there is no question of fact, and if the State is entitled to judgment as a matter of law, dismissal can be ordered *sua sponte*. I.C. § 19-4906(c).

If the district court orders dismissal *sua sponte*, it must first give the petitioner twenty days' notice and allow the petitioner to respond to the notice. I.C. § 19-4906(b). The purpose of this requirement is to give the petitioner an opportunity to challenge the decision before it is finalized. *Baruth v. Gardner*, 110 Idaho 156, 159-160, 715 P.2d 369, 371-372 (Ct. App. 1986). Thus, this requirement is strict; it makes no difference whether the petitioner's claims are meritorious or not. *Cherniwchan v. State*, 99 Idaho 128, 129-30, 578 P.2d 244, 245-246 (1978). Moreover, vague notice of the district court's intent to dismiss is insufficient. The district court must be specific as to the basis for the intended dismissal so as to provide the petitioner with a *meaningful* opportunity to respond. *Banks v. State*, 123 Idaho 953, 954, 855 P.2d 38, 39 (1993). If the district court fails to give the petitioner the required notice and opportunity to respond, or if the district court's notice is impermissibly vague, the petition must be reinstated. *Peltier*, 119 Idaho at 456-457, 458, 808 P.2d at 375-376, 377 (failure to give any notice); *Banks*, 123 Idaho at 954, 855 P.2d at 39 (notice was impermissibly vague).

In its notice of intent to dismiss, the district court identified only two reasons for its intent to dismiss: 1) that "the Court cannot find on this record that counsel's representation of Petitioner was objectively unreasonable;" and 2) "even assuming deficient representation, there is a total lack of evidence that, but for counsel's alleged deficiencies, Petitioner would have insisted on going to trial." (R., p.109.)

The standard for evaluation of ineffective assistance claims was recently summarized in *State v. McKeeth*, 140 Idaho 847, 850, 103 P.3d 460, 463 (2004):

The test for determining whether a defendant has received effective assistance of counsel is the two-part test established by the United States Supreme Court in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984); *State v. Mathews*, 133 Idaho 300, 306, 986 P.2d 323, 329 (1999). The first prong of the *Strickland* test requires the defendant to show that counsel's performance was deficient. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687. The second prong requires the defendant to "show that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense." *Id.* In determining whether a defendant was deprived of reasonably competent assistance of counsel as guaranteed by the Idaho Constitution, article 1, section 13, Idaho courts employ the same two-part test. *Mathews*, 133 Idaho at 306, 986 P.2d at 329; *Aragon v. State*, 114 Idaho 758, 760-61, 760 P.2d 1174, 1176-77 (1988).

*Id.*

This test has been specifically applied in cases such as this one: where the petitioner claims that his counsel was ineffective for giving bad legal advice and thereby inducing the petitioner to plead guilty. *See generally McKeeth*.

As to the first prong of the *Strickland* test, the Idaho courts have held that the attorney's performance is deficient if it "falls 'outside the wide range of professional norms.'" *McKeeth*, 140 Idaho at 850, 103 P.3d at 463 (quoting *Mathews*, 133 Idaho at 306, 986 P.2d at 329). As to the second prong of the *Strickland* test, a petitioner is prejudiced if his "counsel's deficient performance 'affected the outcome of the plea process.'" *McKeeth*, 140 Idaho at 851, 103 P.3d at 464 (quoting *Hill v. Lockhart*, 474 U.S. 52, 59 (1985)). He need not show that he would have prevailed at trial. *McKeeth*, 140 Idaho at 852, 103 P.3d at 465.

In this case, in the notice of intent to dismiss, the district court held, "the Court cannot find on this record that counsel's representation of Petitioner was objectively unreasonable." (R., p.109.) This is an incorrect standard. At the summary dismissal stage, Mr. Ridgley is not required to prove that he is entitled to post-conviction relief;

rather, he need only raise a genuine issue of material fact. I.C. § 19-4906. In this case, he raised such an issue.

Mr. Ridgley's complaints against his trial attorney are summarized above, and even the district court admitted that many of his allegations were supported by evidence in the record, stating:

the transcript of the hearing on Petitioner's motion to withdraw his plea factually supports some of Petitioner's allegations, e.g., that counsel spent approximately one hour personally with Petitioner prior to entry of the guilty plea, that counsel did not provide Petitioner with a copy of the police report, and that counsel did not review the audio and video tapes of the interview of the alleged victim.

(R., p.108.) Based on this statement alone, Mr. Ridgley should have survived summary dismissal - he made specific allegations of how his counsel was deficient and these allegations were supported by the record. However, the district court found this evidence to be "insufficient that the whole of counsel's representation of Petitioner was objectively reasonable, especially in light of Petitioner's indication that he simply wanted the criminal matter over with. . . ." and then focused on the attorney's testimony in the underlying criminal case wherein he testified that Mr. Ridgley was aware of the benefits of the plea bargain and that he was adequately advised. (R., p.108.) However, the district court was improperly weighing the evidence – balancing Mr. Ridgley's evidence against the testimony of his attorney, and concluding that it could not find the attorney's representation unreasonable.

Further, the other alleged inadequacies addressed by the district court were remedied by Mr. Ridgley's response to the notice of intent to dismiss. The court noted that there was no evidence that any tapes were actually available for review. (R., p.109.) In his affidavit, Mr. Ridgley's post-conviction attorney asserted that he

spoke with the prosecutor's office, who informed him that tapes were in fact available for review. (R., p.118.) The district court also noted that there was no evidence that Mr. Ridgley told his attorney that he was severely depressed and did not understand the proceedings; Mr. Ridgley's affidavit specifically asserted that he told his counsel these things. (R., pp.109; 112-113.)

Mr. Ridgley specifically alleged how counsel was ineffective, and, even according to the district court, these allegations were supported by the record. While the district court may have believed that counsel's representation as a whole was sufficient, the district court was applying the wrong standard – the only requirement necessary to defeat summary dismissal is that the petitioner raise a genuine issue of material fact, and by supplying specific, supported, allegations of deficient performance, Mr. Ridgley presented evidence to overcome a *sua sponte* dismissal. The district court improperly dismissed Mr. Ridgley's petition on this basis.

Also, the district court concluded that, "even assuming deficient representation, there is a total lack of evidence that, but for counsel's deficiencies, Petitioner would have insisted on going to trial." (R., p.109.) This assertion is specifically rebutted in Mr. Ridgley's affidavit in response to the notice of intent to dismiss. In the affidavit, Mr. Ridgley repeatedly says that it was his intent to go to trial, stating, "[i]f I am successful in my Post Conviction Relief, I will go to trial as I am not guilty of the allegations charged against me by the State." (R., p.113.) Later in the affidavit, he avers, "I am not guilty of the charged offenses and intend to fully go to trial should this court grant my post conviction for relief" and that, "[i]t is not my intent to negotiate any of the charges which would result in me pleading guilty." (R., p.114.) Mr. Ridgley

specifically asserted that he was not guilty of the charge and would insist on taking the case to trial.

In the ordering dismissing the petition for post-conviction relief, the district court also relied heavily on the fact that Mr. Ridgley had filed a motion to withdraw his plea in the underlying criminal case and that the Court of Appeals affirmed the denial of this motion.<sup>2</sup> (R., p.154.) The court noted that the “grounds and arguments asserted by Ridgley during the appeal were virtual mirror images of the arguments he now states in this action.” (R., p.154.) The court acknowledged that the “standard for ineffective assistance of counsel . . . is different than that for a motion to withdraw a guilty plea, but nonetheless this Court finds the factual similarities of Ridgley’s claims extraordinary, particularly on those issues where the evidence before this Court is no different than the evidence before the criminal trial judge.” (R., p.155.) The Court of Appeals’ Opinion affirming the denial of Mr. Ridgley’s motion is in the record in this case. (R., pp.100-104.)

Based on the findings made by the trial court in the motion to withdraw the plea, which was affirmed on appeal, the district court held that, “this Court cannot find that the attorney . . . failed to offer an objectively reasonable level of representation.” (R., p.156.) Further, the court noted that the allegations of depression and confusion were not presented to the court in the motion to withdraw the guilty plea in the underlying criminal case, where Mr. Ridgley was represented by the same attorney who represented him in the instant action. (R., p.155-157.)

---

<sup>2</sup> Mr. Ridgley also asserts that it was error for the district court to be considering the motion to withdraw the guilty plea at all, and this claim is addressed in Issue II.

Post-conviction relief is available where “there exists evidence of material facts, not previously presented and heard, that requires vacation of the conviction or sentence in the interest of justice.” I.C. § 19-4901(a)(4) (emphasis added). A post-conviction action is not a substitute for and does not supplant a direct appeal from the conviction or sentence. I.C. § 19-4901(b); *Paradis v. State*, 110 Idaho 534, 537, 716 P.2d 1306, 1309. Therefore, “[a] convicted defendant may not simply relitigate the same factual questions in his application, in virtually the same factual context already presented in a direct appeal.” *Whitehawk v. State*, 116 Idaho 831, 833, 780 P.2d 153, 155 (1989).

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