12-26-2007

Ridgley v. State Respondent's Brief Dckt. 35823

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

ARGUMENT

I.

The District Court Properly Dismissed Ridgley's Petition Because Ridgely Failed To Meet His Burden Of Establishing A Factual Basis For His Claim Of Ineffective Assistance Of Counsel

A. Introduction

Ridgley argues the district court erred in summarily dismissing his petition claiming his petition created a genuine issue of material fact as to whether his attorney rendered ineffective assistance of counsel. (Appellant's Brief, pp.7-15.) This argument has no merit. Ridgley's petition and supporting affidavits either rely on facts that have been affirmatively disproved by the record or make conclusory claims that do not have any factual basis. Consequently, Ridgley has not met his burden of showing a genuine issue of material fact and the district court's summary dismissal of Ridgley's petition was appropriate.

B. Standard Of Review

In reviewing the summary dismissal of a post-conviction application, the appellate court reviews the record to determine if a genuine issue of material fact exists which, if resolved in petitioner's favor, would require relief to be granted. Nellsch v. State, 122 Idaho 426, 434, 835 P.2d 661, 669 (Ct. App. 1992). The court freely reviews the district court's application of the law. Id. at 434, 835 P.2d at 669. The question of whether an action is barred by res judicata is a question of law over which the appellate courts exercise free review. State v. Rhoades, 134 Idaho 862, 863, 11 P.3d 481, 482 (2000).

C. Ridgley's Petition And Affidavits Do Not Create A Genuine Issue Of Material Fact

Ridgley contends his petition and submitted affidavits are sufficient to create a genuine issue of material fact on the issue of whether he received ineffective assistance of counsel. In Strickland v. Washington, the Supreme Court set forth a two-prong test that a defendant must satisfy in order to be entitled to relief on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. 466 U.S. 668, 687-88 (1984). Per Strickland, a defendant must demonstrate both that his counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the proceedings would have been different. Id.; see also Aragon v. State, 114 Idaho 758, 760, 760 P.2d 1174, 1176 (1988); Russell v. State, 118 Idaho 65, 67, 794 P.2d 654, 656 (Ct. App. 1990).

Ridgley's post-conviction ineffective assistance of counsel claims can be divided into two categories: Ridgley's claims that his counsel: 1) did not spend sufficient time with him to discuss the particulars of his case and failed to investigate and review evidence, and 2) should have been aware of his mental status and inability to understand the proceedings and, therefore, should have discussed the possibility of a psychological evaluation with Ridgley. (R., pp.4-5.) The first category of claims is barred by res judicata. Moreover, they are claims without factual basis because the facts upon which Ridgley relies are facts that have been affirmatively disproved by the record. Ridgley's second category of claims are based on conclusory statements without factual basis and, therefore, do not create a genuine issue of material fact.

1. Ridgley's Claims That His Attorney Failed To Meet With Him To Discuss Possible Defenses And Failed To Review Evidence Are Claims Barred By The Doctrine Of Res Judicata

The doctrine of res judicata prevents re-litigation of issues that have been previously decided in a final judgment or decision in an action between the same litigants. Rhoades, 134 Idaho at 863, 11 P.3d at 482; Gubler v. Brydon, 125 Idaho 107, 110, 867 P.2d 981, 984 (1994) (res judicata "prevents the litigation of causes of action which were finally decided in a previous suit"). Thus, "when legal issues are decided in a criminal action on direct appeal, the defendant is barred by the doctrine of res judicata from raising them again in a post-conviction relief proceeding." State v. Creech, 132 Idaho 1, 10, 966 P.2d 1, 10 (1998) (citing State v. Beam, 115 Idaho 208, 210, 766 P.2d 678, 680 (1988); State v. Fetterly, 115 Idaho 231, 233, 766 P.2d 701, 703 (1988)).

Ridgley claims his counsel was ineffective because he did not spend sufficient time with him, failed discuss defenses with him, and failed to investigate or review evidence. (R., pp.4-5.) These are claims that have already been presented (#29329, R., p.334-35), rejected (#29329, R., p.78), and affirmed on direct appeal (State v. Ridgley, Docket No. 29320, 2004 Unpublished Opinion No. 430 (Idaho Ct. App. April 6, 2004)). Consequently, because these issues have already been decided, they are barred by the doctrine of res judicata.

2. Even If Ridgley's Claims Are Not Barred By The Doctrine Of Res Judicata, Ridgley's Claims That His Attorney Failed To Meet With Him To Discuss Possible Defenses And Failed To Review Evidence Are Based On Facts Affirmatively Disproved By The Record

"Allegations contained in the application are insufficient for the granting of relief when they are clearly disproved by the record of the original proceedings, or do not justify relief as a matter of law." Cooper v. State, 96 Idaho 542, 545, 531 P.2d 1187, 1190 (1975). A district court properly dismisses a petition where at least one element that the petitioner must establish is "clearly disproved" by the record of the underlying criminal case. Stuart v. State, 118 Idaho 865, 869, 801 P.2d 1216, 1220 (1990); Chouinard v. State, 127 Idaho 836, 839, 907 P.2d 813, 816 (Ct. App. 1995); Remington v. State, 127 Idaho 443, 446-47, 901 P.2d 134, 137-38 (Ct. App. 1995).

Here, the record of the underlying criminal case "clearly disproves" Ridgley's claims that the district court erred in finding that no genuine issue of material fact was raised by Ridgley's assertion that his attorney spent a limited amount of time with him, failed to discuss his defenses with him, and did not review the audio and video tapes of the interview with his abused step-daughter. Ridgley argues on appeal that the "district court was improperly weighing the evidence [by] balancing Mr. Ridgley's evidence against the testimony of his attorney." (Appellant's Brief, p.11.) The court did no such thing. The district court recognized that the trial court, in ruling on Ridgeley's motion to withdraw his plea, made factual determinations that factually precluded Ridgley's post-conviction deficient performance claim. (R., pp.155-56.)

The district court acknowledged the trial court's previous factual determinations that Ridgley met with his attorney on at least three occasions and spent time enough time with Ridgley to discuss the charges and possible punishment. (R., p.155.) Indeed, the record shows that before Ridgley waived his rights at the preliminary hearing, Ridgley "discussed the matter thoroughly with his attorney." (#29320 R., p.47.) In determining that Ridgley was not entitled to withdraw his guilty plea, the trial court also found that Ridgley insisted and was eager to plead guilty from the beginning and that, consequently, his attorney had no obligation to engage in additional discovery, i.e., review the audio or videotapes or interview witnesses. (#29320 R., p.47.) Consequently, Ridgley's present post-conviction claims based on these facts have no basis because they are facts affirmatively disproved by the record.

3. Ridgley's Post-Conviction Claims That His Attorney Failed To Appreciate His Mental Status And Therefore Failed To Request A Psychological Evaluation Are Also Without Factual Support

Ridgley claims he received ineffective assistance of counsel because his attorney failed to appreciate his mental state (R., pp.4-5) and failed to speak with him about the possibility of "receiving a mental evaluation" (R., p.113). The district court considered these claims and concluded that Ridgley's petition was factually deficient on both Strickland requirements.

Regarding deficient performance, the district court reasoned that Ridgley's petition and supplemental affidavits did not recite any facts suggesting that Ridgley was incompetent at the time he entered his guilty plea. (R., p.155.) The district court further found that Ridgley did not submit facts showing how he was

prejudiced. ((R., pp.159-160.) The district court noted the affidavit submitted by his second attorney in response to the court's notice of its intent to dismiss suggested that there was no factual support for his assertion that he was in "shock" and did not understand what was going on when he entered his plea or that he said anything about his mental state to Mr. Williams, his first attorney. Further, Mr. Hull's affidavit states explicitly that if he was an attorney representing a client in Ridgley's circumstance, he would have requested a mental evaluation and would not have proceeded. (R., pp.118-19.) However, as pointed out by the district court, Mr. Hull never addressed Ridgley's mental status when he was Ridgley's attorney and asking the court to withdraw Ridgley's plea -- indicating that Ridgley was competent and that his mental status was never an issue. (R., p.156-58.)

The district court also determined that Ridgley's own statements regarding his state of mind were conclusory, without factual support and, therefore, insufficient to avoid summary dismissal. The court reasoned:

The only evidence offered in this case that Ridgley was emotionally distraught, in a state of shock, and incompetent are the allegations of Ridgley's own affidavit. Ridgley's own conclusory and bare assertions, alone, are not sufficient to survive summary dismissal. Attorney Williams testified Ridgley appeared to be quite competent and understood the nature and magnitude of what he was facing. Ridgley never raised the argument of incompetency during the hearing on the motion to withdraw the guilty plea. Nor does Ridgley's petition raise any issue about the failure to assert the mental health issues at the hearing on the motion to withdraw. While Ridgley's affidavit does raise the fact issue that he was emotionally distraught when he entered the guilty plea, the affidavit offers no more than a mere conclusion that he was not competent to understand the nature of the proceedings and knowingly enter into a guilty plea, and is unsupported by any facts as to the alleged mental incompetency.

(R., p.159.) Ridgley has not identified any error in this analysis. Mr. Williams testified that he used his first meeting with Ridgley to gauge Ridgley's "emotional state" and that he told Ridgley they would meet again to discuss the charges. (5/28/02 Tr., p.43, L.17 - p.44, L.11.) After subsequent visits Ridgley decided to plead guilty. (5/28/02 Tr., p.42, Ls.11-16.) Williams testified that Ridgley, at this latter time, "knew exactly what he was doing and what the plea bargain was and what he was assuming." (5/28/02 Tr., p.42, Ls.11-16.) This testimony is consistent with the psychological evaluation done for purposes of sentencing. That report found that although Ridgley was "emotionally overwhelmed" there was absolutely no "impairment in intellectual functioning." (R., p.144; #29320 PSI Psychological Report, p.30.) Accordingly, to the extent that Ridgley asserts his emotional state is evidence that his attorney should have known that he could not intelligently, knowingly, and voluntarily enter his guilty plea, it is a fact disproved by the record. As such, there is no factual support for Ridgley's claim.

Moreover, even if there was deficient performance, Ridgley failed to submit facts showing how he was prejudiced. Where a guilty plea is entered a defendant must show a reasonable probability that but for his counsel's errors the defendant would not have pled guilty and would have gone to trial. Gilpin-Grubb v. State, 138 Idaho 76, 82, 57 P.3d 787, 793 (2002). As pointed out by the district court, Ridgley has not identified facts showing that an evaluation would have produced any additional information other than what was in the PSI psychological report or that a court, based on Ridgley's assertions, would have even ordered such an evaluation. (R., pp.159-60.)

Ridgley apparently believes he has met his burden simply because his affidavit says that he will go to trial if his post-conviction petition is granted. (R., p.114.) This, however, is not the standard. Ridgley must show a reasonable probability that but for his counsel's deficiencies he would have gone to trial at the time he entered his plea. Ridgley has not made this claim and, even if he did, there is nothing in the record that would support such a claim. Ridgley fails to identify any possible defense and fails to explain how or if his reasons expressed to his initial attorney for not wanting to go to trial have changed. Ridgley relies solely on his conclusory assertion, disproved by the record, that he did not have the mental capacity to enter his plea.

II.

The District Court Properly Dismissed Ridgley's Petition On Grounds Set Forth In The Notice Of Intent To Dismiss

A. Introduction

Ridgley claims the "notice of intent to dismiss did not address any issues relating to Mr. Ridgley's motion to withdraw his guilty plea" and as a result erred in dismissing the petition. (Appellant's Brief, p.16.) Ridgley's claim is without legal merit. Ridgley was not entitled to double notice -- notice of why his response to the district court's initial notice was still deficient.

B. Ridgley Had Adequate Notice Of The Basis For Dismissal Of His Claims

Ridgley asserts that it was improper for the district court to rely on the underlying trial court's factual findings to conclude that Ridgley's claims had no factual basis. Ridgley contends that because he was not put on notice of these

facts -- facts contained in the record -- his claim was improperly dismissed. Ridgley's argument is logically and legally flawed.

Before dismissing a petition for post-conviction relief, a district court is required to give notice of the petition's deficiencies. Griffin v. State, 142 Idaho 438, 441, 128 P.3d 975, 978 (2001) ("[T]he court may not dismiss a petition *sua sponte* without first giving notice of its intent, stating the grounds for the dismissal with particularity, and allowing the petitioner twenty days in which to respond.") It is undisputed that Ridgley filed a petition and that the district court filed a notice of intent to dismiss. In that notice the court stated with particularity the deficient nature of the petition as to both deficient performance and prejudice -- primarily an absence of factual support. (R., pp.105-11.) Ridgley was given twenty days to respond and he did -- by submitting two additional affidavits, one from himself, and one from his attorney. (R., pp.112-14; 117-20.) The district court considered those affidavits, and the factual assertions contained therein. However, the court concluded the factual information supporting his claim was disproved by facts in the record. Because Ridgley's supplemental affidavits did not cure his petition's identified deficiencies and because Ridgley had been given notice of those deficiencies with the opportunity to respond, the district court dismissed Ridgley's petition.